FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/13/2023 12:27 PM NO. **102184-4**

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/13/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 56803-9-II)

Viking JV, LCC,

Respondent,

V.

City of Puyallup,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter J. Eglick, WSBA No. 8809 Joshua A. Whited, WSBA No. 30509 EGLICK & WHITED PLLC 1000 2nd Avenue, Suite 3130 Seattle, WA 98104-1069 (206) 441-1069 phone (206) 441-1089 fax

Email: eglick@ewlaw.net

whited ewlaw.net

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner City of Puyallup ("Petitioner", "City" or "Puyallup") seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Petitioner seeks review of the following Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals: *Viking JV, LLC v. City of Puyallup*, Court of Appeals Case No. 56803-9-II, filed on June 13, 2023, hereinafter Opinion. A copy of this Opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was the City Council approved latecomer's agreement a land use decision subject to exclusive review under LUPA and, if so, should Viking's action be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction due to Viking's failure to name and serve all necessary parties required under RCW 36.70C.040(2)?

2. Did the City contribute to the public sewer facility constructed such that City-owned property was lawfully excluded from the latecomer's agreement?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals Opinion ("Opinion") provides the basic factual and procedural background concerning this matter; accordingly, the City refers the Court to those portions of the Opinion. *See* Opinion at 2-10. However, because the Opinion fails to acknowledge several key facts or place them in proper context, the City provides the following additional background.

Franklin Puyallup, LLC (Franklin) developed a large commercial shopping center known as Pioneer Crossing on the southwest corner of East Pioneer and Shaw Road in Puyallup. CP 8. The development required construction of certain public sewer facilities. *Id.* As early as April 1, 2011, Franklin had plans for construction of the public sewer facilities and had entered into an agreement with Cascade Christian Schools (CCS) to obtain property rights necessary for the construction. *See* CP 68-80.

In January 2014, Schnitzer West, LLC submitted a short plat application and State Environmental Policy Act¹ (SEPA) Checklist to construct a warehouse facility at 302 33rd Street SE in Puyallup, near the Franklin development. CP 552, 558-61, 563-65. Viking subsequently acquired the property that was the subject of the application and continued on with the proposed project. CP 553, 611.

The Viking project proposal included extension of and connection to the City's sewer system. CP 552-53, 561, 565. In other words, the Viking proposal required the very same public sewer facilities that Franklin had been planning to construct since 2011. Meanwhile, Franklin continued to actively pursue development of the needed public sewer facilities it was agreeing to construct in connection with its shopping center approval. In a January 8, 2015 letter, Franklin stated its intent to enter into a

¹ RCW Ch. 43.21C.

latecomer agreement with the City in connection with such development. CP 197.

Franklin also asked the City early on for a financial credit for the infrastructure it was agreeing to create. As explained by City Engineer, Hans Hunger:

During the process leading up to approval of the sewer lift station that is the subject of the latecomer agreement in this matter the City was working with Franklin to approve the facility. During those discussions, Franklin asked the City to give them a credit for the infrastructure that they were planning to build as part of their development. The City agreed to credit the sewer system development charges (SDC) because the infrastructure being constructed was also identified in the city's sewer comprehensive plan as a future sewer expansion. SDCs are connection fees that are charged when new construction connects to the utility. The SDC is designed to allow new development to buy into the existing system that existing customers have paid to build and also to fund future expansion of facilities needed based on the impacts of the new development. The City reasoned that the credits were in fact a contribution to the sewer lift station and as a project contributor the City would not be required to pay into the latecomers when a future sewer connection from the City park was made.

CP 555-56.

Subsequently, in August 2017, after it had requested credits from the City, Franklin entered into an agreement with Viking under which Viking, not Franklin, would construct the sewer utilities, including a sewer lift station and sewer force main, for the benefit of both Franklin and Viking. Under the agreement, the construction was not on Viking property at all, but on the property owned by Franklin and CCS. CP 83-105; see also CP 5. In addition to providing the underlying property rights, Franklin also agreed to contribute \$600,000 to Viking toward the construction costs. CP 87. The City was not a party to the agreement between Franklin and Viking.

Viking ultimately constructed the sewer facility on the Franklin/CCS property and requested a latecomer agreement with the City, which the City prepared. *See* CP 22-32. On March 23, 2021, the Puyallup City Council approved the latecomer agreement. CP 266. It includes an assessment roll specifically identifying all the properties and taxpayers that would be subject to latecomer fees. CP 22, 32. The latecomer agreement approved

by the City Council excluded from future latecomer fees the properties owned by Franklin and CCS, as well as the City-owned Van Lierop Park, in recognition of the contributions made by those property owners. *See* CP 22-32. Viking objected to the exclusion of the City-owned Van Lierop Park, but agreed to exclusion of the other properties. CP 6, 8, 266. In light of Viking's objection, the latecomer's agreement was never executed by either Viking or the City.

If the City were required to pay a latecomer fee for the City-owned Van Lierop Park, its latecomer fee alone would be \$196,421.69. CP 554. The total latecomer fees for Franklin, CCS and City-owned properties would collectively total \$411,523.89. That total is nearly \$200,000 less than the \$600,000 Franklin contributed, not including the additional value of the underlying property rights Franklin (and CCS) agreed to provide to Viking. CP 556. Meanwhile, the City has already credited Franklin with \$258,280.70 in sewer system development charges for the sewer facilities constructed on Franklin's property. CP 556.

On April 7, 2022, Viking filed in Pierce County Superior Court its "Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, Injunctive Relief and Writ of Mandamus or, Alternatively, Land Use Petition Act Petition" naming the City as the only other party. CP 1-32. Viking did not name or serve any of the owners of the properties that the City Council-approved latecomer agreement expressly identified as regulated properties subject to latecomer reimbursement fees.

The City moved for dismissal and/or summary judgment on several grounds, including that (1) City Council action on a proposed latecomer's agreement was a land use decision only subject to review under the Land Use Petition Act, RCW 36.70C ("LUPA"), and Viking had failed to comply with LUPA's stringent requirement for naming and serving necessary parties; and (2) the City had contributed to the cost of the sewer facility and like Franklin and CCS should not be required to pay latecomer fees if and when Van Lierop Park connected to the

system. CP 33-106; *see also* CP 107-272 (Viking Opposition pleadings) and CP 288-302 (City Reply pleading).

The superior court denied the City's motion. CP 308-12.

Viking subsequently brought its own motion for summary judgment. CP 313-491; *see also* CP 492-595, 708-11 (City Response pleadings); CP 596-707 (Viking Reply pleadings). The superior court entered an Order granting Viking's motion for summary judgment. CP 712-15. The Order rejected the City's contention that its \$258,280.70 credit to Franklin had effectively been passed through to Viking and that it would be a windfall for Viking and a double dip into City funds if the City was required to pay a latecomer fee to Viking. The Order further rejected the City's argument that LUPA was the exclusive means of review. CP 713-15.

On April 4, 2022, the City filed its notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals. Oral argument was held on May 5, 2023.

On June 13, 2023, the Court of Appeals issued its Opinion.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) because the Opinion of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals and this petition also involves issues of substantial public interest.

A. The Opinion is in Direct Conflict with the Court of Appeals Published Decision in *Cave Props. v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 199 Wn. App. 651, 401 P.3d 327 (2017).

The Opinion holds that "Viking's challenge [to the Puyallup City Council approved latecomer agreement] was not subject to exclusive review under LUPA." Opinion at 13. This is in <u>direct</u> conflict with the Division II Court of Appeals published decision in *Cave Props. v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 199 Wn. App. 651, 401 P.3d 327 (2017) (hereinafter "*Cave Props.*"), which holds that a city council approved latecomer agreement <u>is</u> a land use decision subject to exclusive review under LUPA.

In *Cave Props*., Cave Properties and Marcia Wicktorn (collectively referred to as "Cave") appealed the dismissal by the

superior court of an action in which Cave asserted both a petition under LUPA, chapter RCW 36.70C, and a petition for writ of review under chapter RCW 7.16 RCW, which concerns writs of certiorari, mandamus and prohibition. Cave Props. at 653-55. Cave's action challenged the approval by the City of Bainbridge Island's city council of a latecomer reimbursement agreement that required Cave to reimburse John and Alice Tawresey if Cave connected to a water main that the Tawreseys had constructed. *Id.* In reversing the trial court, Division II of the Court of Appeals held unequivocally in Cave Props. "that the city council's approval of the Tawreseys' latecomer reimbursement agreement qualified as a land use decision under RCW 36.70C.020(2)(b)" and that the superior court had LUPA jurisdiction. *Id.* 654.

Cave Props. began its analysis recognizing the bedrock principle that LUPA is the exclusive means by which superior courts obtain jurisdiction to review local land use decisions and that LUPA jurisdiction requires an underlying "land use decision" as defined in LUPA. *Id.* at 656.

LUPA eliminates the former writ of certiorari appeal process for land use decisions. RCW 36.70C.030(1) ("[t]his chapter replaces the writ of certiorari for appeal of land use decisions and shall be the exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions").

LUPA cannot be evaded by resort to a supposed declaratory judgment claim. *Sheng-Yen Lu v. King County*, 110 Wn. App. 92, 106, 38 P.3d 1040, 1046 (2002) (LUPA provides adequate remedy thereby precluding declaratory relief under chapter RCW 7.24).

As explained in *Cave Props.*, when LUPA applies, a land use decision must be appealed within 21 days per RCW 36.70C.040(3); when LUPA does not apply, an appeal may be filed much later under for example chapter 7.16 RCW. *Cave Props.* at 656.

After explaining this context, the *Cave Props*. court then proceeded to a detailed analysis of whether the Bainbridge Island city council's approval of an RCW Ch. 35.91 latecomer

agreement constituted a land use decision under LUPA and whether the superior court had erred by dismissing Cave's LUPA petition for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* at 660-667. The analysis examined RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a)-(b), which contains the following alternative definitions of "land use decision":

- a final determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination, including those with authority to hear appeals, on:
- (a) An application for a project permit or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred, or used . . . ;
- (b) An interpretative or declaratory decision regarding the application to a specific property of zoning or other ordinances or rules regulating the improvement, development, modification, maintenance, or use of real property; and

RCW 36.7€C.€2€(2).

The court held that the city council's decision on the latecomer reimbursement agreement was not a land use decision under RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a) because, although the Tawreseys

requested government approval of the agreement thereby satisfying the first two elements of RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a), the Tawreseys were not required by law to obtain approval of a latecomer reimbursement *before* their property could be developed. *Id.* at 661-62.

However, following a lengthy analysis the court held that RCW 36.70C.020(2)(b) did apply. The city council's approval of the terms of the latecomer reimbursement agreement met all three elements for a land use decision under that LUPA definition. *Id.* at 667. The court reasoned that the approval was a "declaratory decision" and that "by approving the agreement's terms, the city council necessarily declared the City's position regarding those terms." Id. at 664. The court also concluded that "[u]nder the terms of the approved latecomer reimbursement agreement, the city council's decision established that the Cave property would be subject to the established reimbursement charges if it connected to the new water main" and therefore the declaratory decision applied to specific property. Id. at 664. And, the court concluded that the latecomer agreement was adopted pursuant to city ordinances that "regulated" Cave's use and development of its property by imposing a significant charge if it engaged in any development of its property that required connection to the water main. *Id.* at 664-65.

The *Cave Props*. court found Division One's unpublished opinion in *Vern F. Sims Family Ltd. P'ship v. City of Burlington*, 73608-6-I, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 1547 (Wash. Ct. of App., July 5, 2016) instructive, noting that "it is the only case we have located that addresses the issue presented in this case." *Cave Props*. at 665, n.2.² In *Sims*, the Burlington city council voted to approve a latecomer reimbursement agreement with a developer in connection with street improvements pursuant to RCW 35.72.010-.020. *Cave Props*. at 665. The issue on appeal was

_

² Sims, decided after March 1, 2013, is nonbinding authority, but may be cited and accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate per GR 14.1(a). The *Cave Props*. Court concluded that per GR 14.1(c) it was necessary to cite and discuss *Sims* to reach a reasoned decision.

whether the city council's approval was a land use decision under RCW 36.70C.020(2). The *Sims* court held that it was a land use decision under subsection (2)(b) because the approval meant that, should Sims or others decide to develop their property within the assessment area during the period of the latecomer agreement, once executed, they would have to pay assessments. *Id*.

The Cave Props. court acknowledged that Sims was slightly distinguishable from the case before it because in Sims the reimbursement payments were mandatory if there was any development during the duration of the agreement, while Cave would only be charged if it intended to connect to the water main.

Id. at 666. The court nonetheless concluded that was a distinction without a difference, explaining that the approved latecomer agreement still "regulated" Cave's property and the determination could not turn on whether it was absolutely necessary for Cave to connect because that could not be known at the time of the council's decision. Id.

Per *Cave Props.* and *Sims*, the Puyallup City Council's approval of the latecomer agreement here was a land use decision under LUPA. Accordingly, LUPA was the exclusive means of judicial review of that land use decision. There is no basis for distinguishing *Cave Props.* or *Sims* from the instant case. The extensive analysis in *Cave Props.* clearly concludes that a city council approved latecomer agreement is a land use decision subject to exclusive review under LUPA. It does not matter what party or parties challenge such a decision or why they choose to do so, the decision remains a land use decision.

The Opinion here offers the following explanation in an effort to distinguish *Cave Props*.:

Here, Viking's specific challenge concerned Puyallup's decision to exclude itself from any payment obligation under the latecomer contract. *Cave*, therefore, does not resolve the issue of whether the city council's decision to approve the contract was a land use decision because the city was not required to pay any fees prior to development on its property requiring connection to the facilities, as was the situation in *Cave*. As noted by the court in *Cave*, the latecomer contract was governed by the city's ordinances, and the reason

these ordinances regulated Cave's property use and development was because the fees needed to be paid prior to any development on the property. *Id.* But here, as pointed out by Viking, the city's property was specifically excluded from the assessment roll and was not subject to the latecomer contract. Accordingly, Puyallup's specific property was not regulated by the decision, so Viking's challenge was not subject to exclusive review under LUPA.

Opinion at 13. This explanation does not hold up under any reasonable scrutiny.

While it is true that City owned property was excluded from the assessment roll and was not subject to the approved latecomer contract, that is of no consequence. The assessment roll included numerous other properties and those properties are subject to the approved latecomer agreement. Under the approved latecomer agreement, those property owners will have to pay latecomer reimbursement fees upon connection to the sewer facilities. Thus, as in *Cave Props.*, the approved latecomer agreement is a declaratory decision that applies to specific properties, regulating the use and development of them by

imposing significant charges if they connect to the facilities.

There is no colorable way that *Cave Props*. can be distinguished.

The explanation offered in the Opinion focuses not on what the decision actually was or actually does, and not on the fact that the decision was a declaratory decision that regulates certain, specific properties – regardless of whether it regulates the City's property. Instead, it focuses on the nature of Viking's complaints about the decision. But a decision is either a "land use decision" subject to LUPA or it is not. That determination turns on the definition of "land use decision" in RCW 36.70C.020(2); it is not a fluid determination that examines who is challenging the decision or why. Instead, it simply looks at the decision itself and whether that decision meets the definition of "land use decision." Here, the approved latecomer agreement meets the definition of "land use decision," consistent with the holding in Cave Props.

The Opinion is directly contrary to Cave Props. It also creates an anomalous framework, suggesting that whether a

decision is a land use decision subject to LUPA requires an examination of who is challenging the decision and why. For example, if one of the property owners on the City's assessment roll (which consists of property clearly regulated by the approved latecomer agreement) were to challenge the latecomer agreement, arguing that the rates were too high, that would certainly be an action subject to exclusive review under LUPA. But the Opinion holds that Viking's challenge to the very same agreement/decision is somehow not subject to LUPA because of what motivates Viking's challenge. In other words, under the Opinion's reasoning it is not enough to be an approved latecomer agreement -- or any decision relating to land use -- that fits the words of the statutory definition. To be subject to exclusive review under LUPA, depends on who is bringing the action and/or what their challenges are to the decision. Respectfully, the Opinion is inconsistent with LUPA and in direct conflict with Cave Props. LUPA is meant to bring uniformity and to eliminate uncertainty about judicial review of land use decisions.³ The Opinion contravenes that purpose, converting LUPA into a portal for case-by-case dialectic about whether a decision that meets the LUPA statutory definition nevertheless is not subject to it.

B. Because the Latecomer Agreement was a Land Use Decision Subject to Exclusive Review Under LUPA, Viking Was Required to Serve All of the Owners of the Properties Identified in the Decision.

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