FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/31/2023 2:19 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102184-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 56803-9-II) VIKING JV, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

CITY OF PUYALLUP,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Margaret Y. Archer, WSBA No. 21224 marcher@gth-law.com Attorneys for Viking JV, LLC

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 Tacoma, WA 98401-1157 (253) 620-6500

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

II. ARGUMENT

- A. Supreme Court Review Of Division II's Decision Regarding Applicability Of And Compliance With LUPA Is Unwarranted.
 - 1. Division II correctly distinguished *Cave* and correctly concluded that LUPA does not apply to Viking's unique challenge.

The City asserts that Division II's decision directly conflicts with *Cave Properties v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 199 Wn. App. 651, 401 P.3d 327 (2017), and claims review is thus

warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The argument is questionable on its face. *Cave* is a fairly recent Division II decision; and Division II was interpreting its own decision when it concluded that *Cave* is distinguishable from the unique facts presented in this case. Division II seems better suited than the City to determine the applicability of its own decision. Regardless, Division II reached the correct conclusion.

Contrary to the City's assertion, the *Cave* Court did not hold that all disputes regarding latecomer agreements are subject to LUPA. The *Cave* decision was fact specific; and it was based on the specific challenge asserted in the context of the City of Bainbridge Island's ("Bainbridge") specific process leading to Cave's challenge. Division II's decision in this case was likewise fact specific, and the facts here are distinguishable from *Cave*.

Before the trial court and Division II, the City decisions subject to scrutiny were the City's decisions to (1) exempt itself from the latecomer agreement and (2) refuse Viking the

opportunity to sign the latecomer agreement under protest so that it could receive the benefit agreement, yet still preserve the challenge presented in this litigation. Though in this Petition the City has jettisoned the second argument, it remains relevant to determine if the unexecuted latecomer agreement — which the City unilaterally withdrew and refused to honor in the face of legal challenge — was a final land use decision subject to LUPA.

In Cave, unlike here, the challenge was not asserted by the developer who constructed the public facility – the actual party to the latecomer agreement and the recipient of any collected reimbursement fees – but was presented by Cave Properties ("Cave"), an owner of one of the benefitted parcels that was required to pay a latecomer reimbursement fee. The Cave Court noted that, if the developer party to the latecomer agreement appealed, which it did not, then LUPA would not because the latecomer agreement after apply, came development was complete and no permit was conditioned

upon the latecomer agreement. As to the developer, the latecomer agreement did not serve to regulate or control development or use of the developer's already developed property as required by RCW 36.70C.020(2). *Cave*, 199 Wn. App. at 661-62.

But the *Cave* Court concluded that Cave's challenge – as a specific property owner challenging the latecomer agreement requirement that he pay the reimbursement fee *before* or as a *prerequisite to development or connection* – required review of a "land use decision" as defined by RCW 36.70C.020(2)(b); and, thus, was thus subject to LUPA's jurisdictional requirements.¹ *Cave*, 199 Wn. App. at 564, 663-667 RCW 36.70C.020(2)(b) provides:

"Land use decision" means **a final determination** by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination, including those with authority to hear appeals, on:

¹ The *Cave* Court found that the latecomer agreement challenged was not a land use decision as defined by RCW

^{36.70}C.020(2)(a). Cave Properties, 199 Wn. App. at 660-662.

(b) An interpretative or declaratory decision regarding the application to a specific property of zoning or other ordinances or rules regulating the improvement, development, modification, maintenance, or use of real property. (Emphasis added.)

The challenge presented in *Cave*, followed a hearing specially requested by the protesting landowner pursuant to the Bainbridge's code. The *Cave* Court described the latecomer process under the Bainbridge Island Municipal Code ("BIMC") chapter 13.32 in extensive detail (*see Cave*, 199 Wn. App. at 658-660),² noting that the BIMC provisions "are consistent with RCW 35.91.020 and add additional procedures." *Id.* at 658.

Like in Puyallup, Bainbridge requires the developer who constructed the public facility to make application to the City for a latecomer agreement, providing cost information and identifying benefitted property owners that did not contribute

² The complete text of chapter 13.32 BIMC may be viewed at https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/BainbridgeIsland/#!/BainbridgeIsland13/BainbridgeIsland1332.html#13.32.170.

to the costs. *Id.* at 658-659, *citing* BIMC 13.32.040, 13.32.100, 13.32.120. Based on this information, Bainbridge's public works director calculates a pro rata reimbursement charge, drafts a latecomer agreement, and then sends it to the developer to sign. *Id.* at 659, *citing* BIMC 13.32.130, 13.32.150.

Under the BIMC, and unlike in Puyallup, the public works director must first obtain a signed agreement from the developer, and then must send official notice of the recommended reimbursements to the benefitted property owners. *Id.* at 659, *citing* BIMC 13.32.150, 13.32.170. The notice must include an opportunity to request a hearing before the city council within 21 days of the notice. *Id.*, *citing* BIMC 13.32.170. If no hearing is requested, the BIMC authorizes the public works director to sign the latecomer agreement. BIMC 13.32.190.

If a benefitted property owner timely requests a hearing, a hearing is scheduled. *Cave*, 199 Wn. App at 659-660, *citing* BIMC 13.32.170. The BIMC expressly provides that the

Council decision is "the city's final action on the reimbursement charge and area." *Id.* at 660, citing BIMC 13.32.180.

Cave requested a public hearing to challenge the reimbursement charges assessed to Cave. *Cave*, 199 Wn. App at 655. The Bainbridge council conducted the requested hearing over two days, where Cave submitted materials to support its challenge. *Id*. Thereafter, the council voted to approve the latecomer agreement as signed by the developer, without modification, and Cave appealed pursuant to LUPA. *Id*.

It was this in this context that the *Cave* Court concluded that Cave was challenging a final land use decision as defined by RCW 36.70C.020(2)(b).

Significant to the *Cave* Court's conclusion was the fact that the latecomer agreement specifically and expressly identified Cave's property and required Cave to pay the reimbursement latecomer fee *before* he could connect and *before* he could develop his property. Based on these specific

facts, the court found that the City's decision to approve the latecomer agreement served to "regulate" that property owner's development opportunities. *Cave Properties*, 199 Wn. App. at 664-67.

Here, Viking, who already received all permits, completed all construction, and is connected to the Sewer Facility, is the party challenging the latecomer agreement. Moreover, the latecomer agreement at issue here does not in "regulate[] the improvement, development, any way modification, maintenance of use" of the City's property. To the contrary, the City's property is not identified or even mentioned in the latecomer agreement. The City is (1) identified in the latecomer agreement as one of the two parties the self-identified (2) having made to contract, as "contributions" to the cost of construction; and (3) identified as the party that that approved the construction and prepared the assessment roll. But the City is not identified as a property owner of a benefitted parcel and its property is not mentioned in nor is it subject to the latecomer agreement. Division II correctly distinguished *Cave* base on those salient, undisputed facts.

Moreover, under Puyallup's code, the challenged Council decision is not a "final determination" as required by RCW 36.70C.020(2). Recall in *Cave*, BMIC 13.32.180 expressly provided: "the city council decision by motion shall be the final action of the city on the reimbursement charge and area." *Cave Properties*, 199 Wn. App at 660.

The Puyallup code contains no such express language. PMC 14.20.040 provides: "Following the closing of the public hearing, the city council may enter into a contract between the city and the property owners paying the cost of the extension."

The Council's motion, *and the City's subsequent actions* confirm that the latecomer at issue here was not a final land use determination. The Council's vote, as documented in the March 23, 2021 Meeting Minutes, was on a motion "to approve a Latecomer Comer's Agreement in a form as approved by the

City Attorney." (CP 485.) The motion approved appears to authorize post-vote changes.

Moreover, the City never signed the latecomer agreement and refused to implement it once Viking filed suit. Viking did not request a stay of the Council approval as authorized by LUPA, RCW 36.70C.100. Viking instead expressly stated its intent to sign the latecomer agreement under protest. The City Attorney, on the other hand, unilaterally "pulled" the document, refused to sign, refused to allow Viking to sign it and, effectively, unilaterally voided the agreement. (CP 284.) If the unexecuted latecomer agreement was a "final land use decision," the City Attorney could not unilaterally withdraw it. The City's actions further confirmed that the latecomer agreement at issue here was not a final land use determination subject to LUPA.

The City's decisions and actions challenged by this lawsuit did not invoke LUPA. The trial court appropriately resolves this case through declaratory judgment and affirmative

injunctive relief. See e.g., Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 383, 76 P.3d 741 (2003); Stone v. Southwest Suburban Sewer District, 116 Wn. App. 434, 65 P.3d 1230 (2003); Pioneer Square Hotel Co. v. City of Seattle, 13 Wn. App.2d 19, 461 P.3d 370 (2020).

2. Division II correctly concluded that, even if LUPA applied, Viking named all parties required under LUPA to satisfy LUPA's jurisdictional requirements.

Even if LUPA applies, which it does not, LUPA was pled (CP 370-373), and timely filed and served on the City. The City nonetheless argues that Viking's challenge should be dismissed because LUPA's requirements to invoke the Court's jurisdiction were not met.

Specifically, the City asserts that Viking was required under LUPA, but failed, to name as parties all the benefitted property owners listed in an exhibit to the latecomer agreement (CP 386). The City relies upon RCW 36.70C.040(2)(a)(ii), which provides that a LUPA petition must name as a party: "(ii) Each person *identified by name and address in* the local

jurisdiction's written *decision as an owner of the property at issue*." (Emphasis added.) Division II correctly concluded that the City's argument is without merit.

Viking's challenge is discrete and limited. Regarding the Council's decision, as evidenced by the Meeting Minutes (CP 485), Viking affirmatively states in its Verified Complaint that it is asserting a single challenge to the latecomer agreement; and it accepts all other aspects and terms of the latecomer agreement as drafted. Viking stated:

Viking generally supports and accepts the attached Latecomer Agreement with a single exception: Viking objects to the City's unilateral decision to exclude the City from its payment obligation for its pro rata share for the Van Lierop Park property, nearly \$200,000 of the costs. ...

* * *

Because the requested amendment seeks an additional reimbursement not otherwise provided in the Latecomer Agreement – a reimbursement from the City – the requested amendment will not increase the payment obligation of any of the other property owners obligated under the Latecomer Agreement in its present form. *Viking thus intends to sign the*

attached Latecomer Agreement, under protest and subject to the objection expressed in this *Complaint*, so that the Latecomer Agreement may be recorded, and property owners are appropriately put on notice of their payment obligation while this litigation is pending. The recorded Latecomer Agreement should be accompanied by a notification Latecomer Agreement is subject to and may be modified as a result of this legal action, but such modification will not increase any payment property owner's obligation. (Emphasis added.)

(CP 356-357.)

At Viking's request, the trial court entered an Order that expressly states: "Resolution of the dispute between Viking and the City of Puyallup will not result in an increase to the fees of any individual property owner as stated in the assessment roll appended to the Latecomer Agreement," (CP 311.) Thus, Viking's available relief was limited by its own Complaint and, significantly, by court order. Viking cannot cause an increase to any benefitted property owner's reimbursement assessment with this lawsuit, whether decided under LUPA or otherwise.

Thus, though owners of benefitted property are identified in the latecomer agreement appendix, the persons and entities do not own "property at issue" to Viking's challenge so as to require their joinder under RCW 36.70C.040(2)(a)(ii). Viking named all necessary parties to adjudicate its action, whether under LUPA or otherwise.

B. The City's Undisclosed Credit To Franklin Did Not Reduce Viking's Construction Costs And Was Not A Contribution Under RCW 35.91.020.

RCW 35.91.020(1)(b) provides that "a municipality may participate in financing water or sewer facilities development project," if authorized by ordinance or contract. The City did not participate in financing the lift station. Regardless, it has cited no local regulation, in chapter 14.10 or 14.20 PMC or any other ordinance, that authorized it to make fee credits, much less make credits to a third party to fund a public facility. On its face, the basic requirement of the statute, which envisions a

joint effort by a City and a developer to build infrastructure, is not met.

The City asserts that it was nonetheless a "contributor" pursuant to RCW 35.91.020(2). This section provides that pro rata reimbursements pursuant to a latecomer agreement may be required from "from property owners who subsequently connect to or use the … sewer facilities, but who did not contribute to the original cost of the facilities."

The City's side and undisclosed "credit" agreement between the City and Franklin did nothing to advance or finance the construction of the lift station. *Before* the credit, Viking had everything it needed to build the lift station – it had the land and the money. This is key. The City's side arrangement, *done without Viking's involvement or knowledge*, was immaterial to the construction; and the lift station would be there today regardless of that undisclosed side arrangement. The City did not "contribute to the original cost of the facilities."

The City accuses Viking of "double dipping" into City funds and cries that the affirmed trial court order provides a "windfall" to Viking. (Petition at 8.) The City further proclaims that this matter is of substantial public interest because taxpayer money was at play. (*Id.* at 25.) But Viking is also a taxpayer. Viking is a taxpayer that

- spent \$2,666,385 to build a regional sewer facility, for which, it has received no reimbursement;
- unlike Franklin, received no SDC credits;
- received no additional financial contribution because of the credits Franklin received; and
- was not informed of the City's side-agreement, much less invited to participate in the "negotiated" arrangement.

Viking received no windfall. To the contrary, Division II correctly concluded that "it would be unfair to reduce the reimbursement Viking should receive through a latecomer contract based on a side agreement that it was never informed of." (Opinion at 21.)

The City may have given up something – e.g., the right to receive SDC fees from Franklin – but this did not facilitate the construction of the lift station and moved no financial needles for Viking. By giving Franklin a credit for land and/or money Viking already had obtained, one might say the City credited the wrong party. Regardless, the work Viking did, and the cost it incurred, are exactly the same as they would have been whether or not the City gave credit to Franklin.

If there is a taxpayer concern here, it is that the City made an unauthorized and undisclosed fee credit to Franklin. But Viking was not involved. If some corrective action is necessary, it cannot be at Viking's expense.

III. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review of Division II's decision affirming the trial court's summary judgment order. Division II correctly affirmed the trial court's ruling that the City violated RCW 35.91.020; Viking is entitled to a latecomer agreement; and the City is obligated to pay its pro rata share of sewer

facility construction costs when it connects its Van Lierop park property the Sewer Facility.